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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Good afternoon

          3  everybody.  My name is Christine Quinn.  I'm Chair

          4  of the City Council's Health Committee and we're

          5  going to begin our Hearing, which is both an

          6  Oversight Hearing on the implementation of Local Law

          7  207A -- thank you, and also a Hearing on Intro. 542.

          8                 As certainly, all the folks in this

          9  room and the folks in other rooms know, that the

         10  issue of school nurses, their availability in non-

         11  public schools, their availability in public

         12  schools, their proposed elimination in summer

         13  schools, et cetera, et cetera, has been a very, very

         14  important issue to the City Council.  And, an issue

         15  we felt we needed to respond to to protect and

         16  preserve and, in some cases, expand the level of

         17  nursing care and availability in our schools,

         18  regardless of whether they be public or non- public.

         19    That led eventually to the Council passing Intro.

         20  207A, the Mayor vetoing it, us overriding the veto.

         21                 We're here today to get an update

         22  from the Administration on the implementation of

         23  207A, which will go into effect in June.  We're here

         24  today given the Council's deep commitment to this

         25  issue, given the history of budget monies being
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          2  taken out of the budget, outside of the budget

          3  process, being taken out of the budget without

          4  notification to the Council, and most recently, the

          5  possible loss of summer school nurses, the fact that

          6  we only found out about that through a memo that the

          7  union got, we really want to hear in a great deal of

          8  detail from the Administration on how they were

          9  implementing 207A.

         10                 I also want to say that we, part of

         11  today's Hearing and also Intro. 542, were driven by

         12  reports, anecdotal reports, we were receiving from

         13  different schools, principals, agencies that run

         14  non- public schools and others that raised concern

         15  on our part that either in the implementation of

         16  207A or the promulgation of the rules around 207A,

         17  that there might have been a difference of opinion

         18  between the Council and the Administration on how

         19  the bill should be implemented, what we meant by

         20  elementary or primary school.

         21                 We hope that today's Hearing and

         22  hearing what the Administration is doing will

         23  clarify and clear up any concern that we have, and

         24  that really was raised for us by parents and school

         25  administrators and better move to 207A going into
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          2  effect fully come June, even though there has been

          3  disagreement to date.

          4                 We're joined by Council Member Yvette

          5  Clarke, a Member of the Committee from Brooklyn.

          6  We'll be joined by other Committee Members and, in

          7  just a few minutes, we'll be joined by Council

          8  Member McMahon, who's Chairing what seems to be a

          9  marathon solid waste Committee meeting regarding the

         10  solid waste management plan.  I think it's

         11  frighteningly his first of like five Hearings on the

         12  Solid Waste Management Plan.  But, he will be

         13  joining us in a minute.  He is the prime sponsor of

         14  542 and obviously somebody who has done, you know, a

         15  tremendous amount of work on this issue.  Also,

         16  we've been joined by our Minority Leader from Staten

         17  Island, Jim Oddo, who's also done a tremendous

         18  amount of work on this issue.

         19                 I would just say before I start my

         20  opening remarks, one of the things I hope comes out

         21  of today is better communication between the Council

         22  and the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene on

         23  this issue.

         24                 You know, the first round of this

         25  issue, we found out from parents and schools about
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          2  the non- public schools.  The nurses, we found out

          3  through a memo that was sent to the union. Our

          4  concern here today was brought to us by some of the

          5  religious organizations we were cc'd on

          6  correspondence that they had with the Department of

          7  Health, though none of the correspondence that led

          8  to their letter, which we were cc'd on, that's been

          9  shared with us.  So, I hope, even if it's

         10  information that we may not like, that we're able to

         11  have a constant and consistent amount of info. Flow

         12  on this issue as we move forward.

         13                 I want to say we have been joined by

         14  Council Member McMahon, who I said was Chairing, I

         15  think a marathon Solid Waste Management Hearing.

         16  You know, I have an issue relating to that in my

         17  district and I said to my staff, I can't go, I was

         18  in the Bronx this morning.  We had a meeting on

         19  infant mortality and he said, oh don't worry, there

         20  are so many more.  You're having like five or

         21  something right?  So, that said, I want to turn the

         22  mic over to Council Member Mike McMahon.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you

         24  Council Member Quinn and I want to thank you and

         25  your fabulous staff, as well as my colleagues,

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Yvette Clarke and Jim Oddo, and all the Council

          3  Members who continue our commitment to the health of

          4  every child in the City of New York, irrespective of

          5  what school they go to.

          6                 I just want to say that I'm extremely

          7  disappointed that the City Council, by not clear

          8  majority, but unanimous vote on two occasions, sent

          9  a unanimous message to the Administration and the

         10  rest of the City of New York that it is imperative

         11  for us that there be a nurse in every school

         12  building, whether it's a public school, a private

         13  school or any type of religious school, and to be

         14  reasonable on that point, we set a number of 200

         15  children per school, to be sort of a minimum level

         16  where the Department has to provide a nurse.

         17                 For some reason, that message is not

         18  clear to the Administration, because now we

         19  understand that there are interpretations of the

         20  language of that legislation that are clearly not

         21  the intent of that legislation.  We know it from our

         22  Hearings.  We know it from our public rallies.  We

         23  know it from everything that has been done on this,

         24  and yet the Administration continues to refuse to

         25  put the nurses in the schools, to acknowledge the
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          2  legislation, to put the funding in the budget, to do

          3  what the Council intended.

          4                 It's almost as if this Administration

          5  is saying, we'll deal with the City Council and ask

          6  for their votes when it's something that we believe

          7  in.  But, if it's not, then we don't care, they

          8  don't exist and we're not going to follow the law.

          9                 So, here we are, back again,

         10  discussing this issue with an amendment to the law

         11  to make even more clear that we want a nurse in

         12  every single school, and that means whether the

         13  school is measured from K through five, K through

         14  six, or K through eight, because not every school is

         15  the same.  I just want to say that I think it's an

         16  outrage that we have to go down this road again,

         17  but, Council Member Quinn, I am just thrilled that

         18  you continue to take this fight and we will continue

         19  it until the health of every child is protected, as

         20  it should be.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

         22  much Council Member McMahon.  Today, since the

         23  nature of this Hearing really is to find out what

         24  the Administration is doing as it relates to 207A,

         25  we're going to do something slightly unusual for the
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          2  Health Committee, is only have one panel of

          3  witnesses.

          4                 Now, I'm very sad that Council Member

          5  Reed isn't here yet, because he is constantly

          6  complaining that I have Hearings that are too long

          7  and too many Hearings.  So, if he doesn't make it,

          8  because it's too short, I want my colleagues to make

          9  sure that he knows that.  So, we're just going to

         10  hear from the Administration, if we could call them

         11  up, Doctor Mary Bassett, Doctor Roger Platt are

         12  going to be the two witnesses who are coming up

         13  today.

         14                 Do you all have copies?  Oh, great,

         15  thank you.  I want to say that we're also being

         16  joined by Doctor Council Member Kendall Stewart of

         17  Brooklyn, a Member of the Health Committee and

         18  Council Member Phil Reed, a Member of the Health

         19  Committee, who we just talked about behind his back.

         20    I said that you would be pleasantly surprised

         21  because this is the whole panel, this is it, these

         22  are all the witnesses.  It will be shorter than

         23  most, so. Go right ahead.  Just identify yourself

         24  for the record please.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Good
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          2  afternoon Chairperson Quinn.  I'm Doctor Mary

          3  Bassett.  I'm the Deputy Commissioner for Health,

          4  Promotion and Disease Prevention from the Department

          5  of Health and Mental Hygiene.  Before I turn to my

          6  written testimony, let me just comment that we came

          7  prepared today to testify on Intro. 542.  I'm, of

          8  course, happy to try and answer any questions --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Let me cut you

         10  off for one second doctor.  Are you saying you are

         11  not prepared to testify on the implementation of

         12  207A?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I, if I

         14  could just continue to say that we're happy to --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Alright, we, no,

         16  you should not continue.  We're going to stand in

         17  recess for a minute.  The folks from the Office of

         18  Legislative Affairs, my staff and I need to adjourn

         19  into the hallway.  Please hold, please do not leave.

         20  We're standing in recess for the moment.  Could OLA

         21  meet me outside.

         22                 (Recess taken)

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Alright, we're

         24  ready to go. We've been joined by Tish James of

         25  Brooklyn and I think and I'll say this as I'm an
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          2  Irish person, we had a little bit of a potato,

          3  potatto moment.  So, let me back up before Doctor

          4  Bassett goes.

          5                 The agency is speaking on Intro. 542

          6  today.  We are having a Hearing on 542 and on how

          7  the agency is implementing this bill.  542 comes out

          8  of a concern that the Administration is implementing

          9  this bill deliberately outside of the intent of the

         10  Council's legislation, and trying to shortchange

         11  some of the elementary schools or primary schools --

         12  when I went to school, they were called elementary

         13  schools, so that's where it stuck in my head -- out

         14  there.

         15                 542, Council Member McMahon's bill,

         16  seeks to clarify any confusion which may exist,

         17  perhaps I'm wrong that it exists, about what the

         18  Council meant as elementary.  Because, typically, a

         19  catholic school is typically K through eight. That's

         20  not what a public school is, so there could be

         21  confusion.

         22                 Intro. 542 seeks to address what we

         23  believe is the confusion in that area and the not

         24  correct implementation of the law in that area.  So,

         25  when one says, and I think this was the confusion, I
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          2  don't think you can talk about 542 without asking

          3  the questions, how many nurses are you hiring?  How

          4  much do they cost?  Where will they go?  If it's

          5  saint somebody and saint somebody has K through

          6  eight, who was a heck of a saint, K through eight,

          7  will they have a school?

          8                 To me, that's an oversight on that

          9  implementation. Will there be other questions that

         10  may come up?  Yes, but the particular focus today is

         11  on will every school where somebody goes, from K

         12  through eight, whether it's primary or elementary,

         13  where there are 200 or more in a room and the other

         14  State requirements, will they be getting a nurse?  I

         15  think there was concern that I used the word

         16  oversight, because it may not have been calendared

         17  that way, for that I apologize, but I think it's

         18  pretty much the same thing, because the only reason

         19  542 exists is because we have these concerns.

         20                 So, hopefully, that clarified it.  If

         21  we erred in not putting the word oversight on the

         22  agenda, we're very sorry about that, and we'll make

         23  sure we don't make the mistake again. Doctor, thank

         24  you for raising your concern early on, so we could

         25  deal with it, as opposed to later on, and with that,
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          2  I turn it back over to you.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:

          4  Alright, I think I'll then just proceed to our

          5  written testimony.  Good morning, rather good

          6  afternoon, Madam Chairperson and Members of the City

          7  Council Committee on Health.  I am Doctor Mary

          8  Bassett, Deputy Commissioner of Health, Promotion

          9  and Disease Prevention at the Department of Mental

         10  Health, at the Department of Health and Mental

         11  Hygiene.  With me today is Doctor Roger Platt,

         12  Assistant Commissioner for the Bureau of School

         13  Health and today we are here to discuss the nursing

         14  program and school health in Intro. 542, which would

         15  define the terms intermediate school and primary

         16  school for the purposes of Section 17- 187 of the

         17  Administrative Code of the City of New York.

         18                 In September of last year, the Mayor

         19  announced that funds would be added to the school

         20  health program to restore the number of non- public

         21  schools receiving full- time nurses back to the

         22  level in 2002.  Prior to that announcement, daily

         23  nurses were allocated to all public elementary

         24  schools that did not have a school- based health

         25  clinic, and to non- public schools with a student
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          2  with a medical condition that required daily nursing

          3  services.  Other non- public schools that requested

          4  nursing coverage and had a medical room were

          5  assigned a nurse two days a week.

          6                 The Department has taken significant

          7  steps to recruit additional nurses.  Our intensified

          8  recruitment efforts for the current school year

          9  include holding job fairs in the Bronx and

         10  Manhattan, placing advertisements in major media

         11  outlets, such as the New York Times, as well as

         12  nurse, sort of trade publications, specialty outlets

         13  such as Nursing Spectrum, a periodical for

         14  registered nurses in the New York Metropolitan area.

         15                 We have also repeatedly posted job

         16  listings on the job pages of nursing schools in the

         17  area.  We were successful in recruiting ten nurses

         18  at a job fair earlier this month and we are

         19  participating in job fairs scheduled at New York

         20  University on February 9th and CUNY's Lehman College

         21  on March 7th, coming up shortly, as well as a job

         22  fair at Madison Square Garden, which is sponsored by

         23  Nursing Spectrum.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Doctor, if I

         25  could just interrupt for one second, so you could
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          2  just make a note, if you have information on the job

          3  fair at Lehman College, we would be happy to forward

          4  that to the Bronx Delegation, so they could

          5  distribute it to their constituents.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Noted.

          7  In addition, we are sending a letter this week to

          8  all non- public school principals to notify them

          9  that the Department is actively recruiting nurses

         10  and asking them for assistance in recruiting nurses

         11  to our program.  We are sending a recruitment

         12  mailing to all registered nurses in New York City,

         13  as well as Nassau, Suffolk and Westchester counties.

         14                 Our school health program is also

         15  working with our human resources and marketing and

         16  media units to improve the effectiveness of our

         17  nurse recruitment program.  But, despite these

         18  efforts, we are losing nurses faster than we can

         19  hire them. We have hired an additional 60 nurses

         20  since last May, but 78 nurses have left the school

         21  health program during that time period.

         22                 Local Law 57 of 2004, beginning in

         23  June of 2005, calls upon the DOHMH to provide a

         24  full- time daily nurse for each public and private

         25  primary school with at least 200 students enrolled
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          2  on the last day of the second month of the preceding

          3  school year, and with an appropriate medical room

          4  that requests a nurse.

          5                 Because Local Law 57 applied only to

          6  primary or intermediate schools with 200 or more

          7  students, there was a question as to what grades

          8  constitute a primary or intermediate school.  The

          9  New York State Department of Education Regulations

         10  generally describe elementary or primary school as

         11  grades K through six, and most public elementary

         12  schools end at grade five or six.  Most non- public

         13  schools, however, include grades K through eight.

         14  Despite this general description of elementary or

         15  primary schools, DOHMH determined that it would

         16  initially recruit nurses for all non- public schools

         17  with more than 200 nurses in grades K through eight.

         18                 Intro. 542 provides a definition of a

         19  primary school that would expand the number of non-

         20  public schools eligible for a daily nurse.  It would

         21  do this in the following ways:  First, defining a

         22  primary school as grades K through eight, rather

         23  than K through six, makes an additional 106 schools

         24  eligible.  But, as I've just mentioned, DOHMH had

         25  determined to recruit nurses for these schools.

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Second, defining a primary school as grades pre- K

          3  through eight, instead of K through eight, adds an

          4  additional 31 schools.  In effect, it expands

          5  coverage to pre- kindergarten students for the first

          6  time.  Last, for both public and non- public

          7  schools, this legislation would label as primary a

          8  school that has grades five through grade eight.

          9  Such schools, generally, are considered middle

         10  schools and did not require a daily nurse.

         11                 Thus, Intro. 542 expands the number

         12  of schools eligible to request full- time nurses at

         13  a time when there's a national shortage of nurses

         14  and an even more acute shortage of nurses in New

         15  York City.  The Department of Health and Mental

         16  Hygiene school health program currently has nearly

         17  200 vacant nursing positions, not including the

         18  additional nurses as required by Local Law 57 and

         19  Intro. 542.

         20                 These vacancies are spread through

         21  both public and non- public schools, but they are

         22  not evenly distributed through schools in New York

         23  City.  While we make every attempt to fill vacant

         24  positions through contracts with three temporary

         25  nursing agencies, these agencies have been able to
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          2  fill only part of our need because of competition

          3  from other health care providers.

          4                 We have sought assistance in

          5  recruiting from a number of sources and venues and

          6  would welcome the assistance of the City Council and

          7  any other interested parties in helping us to

          8  recruit for these positions.  While we will continue

          9  to make every effort to increase the number of

         10  nurses in the school health program, we note that

         11  despite our efforts, it may not be possible to fill

         12  all the positions necessary to comply with the

         13  intent of this legislation in the near future.

         14  Thank you for giving -- it wasn't on my last page,

         15  thank you for giving the Department the opportunity

         16  to provide comments on this issue and I and my staff

         17  will be happy to answer your questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  Let

         19  me ask a couple of questions and then other Members

         20  have questions. Doctor, you said, point three, about

         21  last, for both public and non- public schools, this

         22  legislation would label as primary a school grade

         23  five through eight, such schools are generally

         24  considered middle schools and did not require a

         25  daily nurse.
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          2                 You and, we had the staff and whoever

          3  go over this afterwards, I don't believe that's what

          4  the bill says, because if you look at the bill, in

          5  point one, it says intermediate school means any

          6  public school or private school that solely contains

          7  any combination of grades from and including six,

          8  seven, eight and nine and, then in part three, blah,

          9  blah, blah, provided, however, that such definition

         10  shall not include any school that is defined as an

         11  intermediate school pursuant to paragraph one of

         12  this section.  I think your mic, I think you turned

         13  your mic off doctor.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  If

         15  somebody could --

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  You

         17  want me to answer that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Well --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  He could bring

         20  this over --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- This

         22  is my, my reading of it is that if an, a primary

         23  school is defined as a school that contains a grade

         24  five or lower and, therefore, it doesn't have to

         25  begin with kindergarten or pre- kindergarten or
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          2  first grade, any school that contains a grade five

          3  or lower grade can be considered a primary school.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  You mean if there

          5  was like --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Here it

          7  is, I have it.  A primary school means any public or

          8  private elementary, grammar or other such school

          9  that solely contains any combination of grades from

         10  and including pre- kindergarten through grade eight.

         11    Excluded from that definition is the intermediate

         12  school, which is defined as including grades six,

         13  seven, eight and nine. So, if a grade, if a school

         14  contained five, six, seven and eight, under this

         15  legislation, as I understand it, I'm not a lawyer,

         16  it would qualify as a primary school.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I mean we should

         18  have your lawyers and our lawyers follow- up

         19  afterwards.  I think that you're, I think you're

         20  just, the interpretation is not --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  It's

         22  not the intent --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Correct.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

         25  You're saying, in any case, it's not the intent of
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          2  this --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I don't believe

          4  it's the intent and I think you're misreading the

          5  bill.  So, we should talk to folks, you, we should

          6  have the appropriate legal folks chat afterwards.

          7  So, I think point three, for our human sake, we

          8  should set aside for this Hearing, because I think

          9  there's misunderstanding there, that once it gets

         10  flushed out lawyers to lawyers, and, you know, we'll

         11  let them do their thing, no offense, that issue

         12  won't be there.

         13                 So, that said, let me ask a couple of

         14  questions. Paragraph four of the first page, you say

         15  DOH determined that it would initially recruit

         16  nurses for all non- public schools with more than

         17  200 students in grades K through eight.

         18                 First of all, let us say thank you,

         19  that isn't clearly, you know, the answer we wanted

         20  to hear.  Clearly, our, you know, perspective on

         21  what should happen.  So, we really want to say thank

         22  you for that, and that's great.  Tell me what

         23  initially means and what would make initially not go

         24  on permanently?  If that's, was that clear?  Do you

         25  know what I mean?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I think

          3  you're asking why are we qualifying this --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Yea.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

          6  This, this phrase, and I, I, I should begin by

          7  describing the program as it stood in 2002, when, in

          8  fact, we considered as primary schools in the non-

          9  public school system as schools that were K through

         10  eight.  I think that in our discussions of these

         11  schools, we noted that these schools received

         12  nursing services, which we don't make available to

         13  the middle schools and the public schools system.

         14                 So, we considered those as primary

         15  schools and in, in talking about what the policy has

         16  been regarding the definition of primary school, I

         17  refer you to what the New York State Education

         18  Department has defined it as, that's been the sort

         19  of formal policy definition, but, in practice, we

         20  have acknowledged that K through eight constitute

         21  primary schools in the non- pubic schools.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I don't remember,

         23  and Gelvina can chime in if I'm wrong, this bill has

         24  a rules making component to it.  And, in your rules

         25  making component, are you, what is your anticipation
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          2  of what your rule would say as it relates to this K

          3  through eight issue?  Because, it seems to me that's

          4  a place where, you know, initially could be made

          5  permanent, or it could not be made permanent and

          6  then it would be up to the discretion of the

          7  Department, the Commissioner at that moment.

          8                 So, a, where are you at in the rule

          9  making process as it relates to this?  B, what's the

         10  time left in that process? And c, what are thinking

         11  of doing rule- wise as it relates to this one issue?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I could

         13  just respond with a comment that in practice, our,

         14  we have considered primary schools and the non-

         15  public schools to be K through eight, and our

         16  intention in going forward in recruiting nurses for

         17  these schools, that's the practice that we, that we

         18   --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Are using.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- Plan

         21  to, we were using.  I can't comment on the rules

         22  making process.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Where is that at?

         24  Not to comment on the content, but just the process.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'll
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          2  have to get back to you on that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  That would

          4  be great, because, obviously, we, you know, very

          5  much, sincerely appreciate the practice, but we

          6  would want to have that, in addition to whatever the

          7  law would do, also have it codified in the rules.

          8                 Now, just on this State issue,

          9  Gelvina just handed me Chapter 11 of the regulations

         10  of the Commissioner from the, what is this? The

         11  State, the State certificate valid for teaching

         12  common branch subjects in the lower pre- K through

         13  three and upper elementary grades pre- K through

         14  six.  So, the State law, as it relates to the

         15  certification of teachers, has a different

         16  definition than the one that you were referring to,

         17  grade, breakdown- wise.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  It

         19  includes pre- K, you mean?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And up to six.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I think

         22  I was saying K through six has been --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I thought you

         24  said five.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- The
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          2  standard that we --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Oh, I'm sorry, I

          4  thought you said --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

          6  Generally use.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Five.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  There

         11  are, of course, many primary schools in the public

         12  school system --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Oh, I'm sorry,

         14  no, no --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- That

         16  are K through five --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Oh, what I missed

         18   --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- As

         20  there are K through six schools --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right, what I was

         22  referring to --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- And

         24  non- public schools, they are generally K through

         25  eight.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right, no, what I

          3  was referring to was your, the pre- k part, I'm

          4  sorry, that you had kind of referenced in here, the

          5  issue of pre- K not having been included, kind of in

          6  the past look at this issue.  I guess I'm really

          7  just pointing this out to say that is how people are

          8  certified as teachers is inclusive of pre- K and how

          9  the State, through the certification process,

         10  defines the varied same type of schools that we're

         11  talking about.  So, there seems, I guess, just my

         12  point being that there's precedent if you refer to

         13  the State's education certification process and

         14  their definition of schools, which is what we used

         15  as a reference in the drafting.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  The,

         17  the definition that we've typically used as being K

         18  through six, I should point out and I don't know

         19  what it has to do with the teacher certification

         20  process, but the school health program has never,

         21  never extended its coverage to pre- school kids in

         22  the past.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  The only

         24  relationship it has to the teacher certification is

         25  for the definition of a school. We saw it referenced
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          2  in State law of how schools are defined. So, a place

          3  where schools are defined is in the teacher

          4  certification section of the law.  So, I raise that

          5  only to say pre- K is in there because of the State

          6  reference and definition of schools.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:

          8  Accepted.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  I

         10  have one question, then I'm going to go to my

         11  colleagues, and the I, at some point, want to come

         12  back to continue our discussion about the initially

         13  part.  In, where you talk about 106 additional

         14  schools, 31 additional schools, are those schools

         15  that would be included because of the number of

         16  students, or are they schools where the number and

         17  there's a room and the other requirements could be

         18  met?  Because, one of the things we found when we

         19  were doing the bill is that if you included all the

         20  schools possible, it's a much bigger number than the

         21  number of schools who actually can because of the

         22  room requirement and other issues.  So, I'm just

         23  wondering which, what those two numbers speak to?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Those

         25  are based on numbers only, on the enrollment of 200
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          2  cut off, shifting from K through six to K through

          3  eight.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So, if we wanted

          5  to get the accurate fiscal impact, we would have to

          6  do some cross referencing on whether those schools

          7  could qualify room- wise?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Well,

          9  the, the presence or absence of a room is sometimes

         10  up to, sort of discretionary.  Schools can, that

         11  don't presently have a room can, can, can get one.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Well, but not if

         13  they're so overcrowded.  I mean that's probably true

         14  in some cases, but not in all cases.  I mean, in

         15  some cases if you've got trailers out in the parking

         16  lot, you're not going to be able to find the room,

         17  even if you totally want to.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  True.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Council Member

         20  McMahon, and then I'll come back to the initially

         21  question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you

         23  Council Member Quinn.  Good afternoon Doctor

         24  Bassett.  Local Law 57 of 2004 was passed, as you

         25  know, on December 7th, 2004.  The Council overrode
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          2  the Mayor's veto of that legislation.  Does the

          3  Department view that legislation as valid

          4  legislation?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'm

          6  happy to talk with you about our efforts to place a

          7  nurse in every non- public school that requests one.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, but,

          9  what I'd like to know is whether or not the

         10  Department continues, considers that a valid

         11  enactment of law by the New York City Council?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  What I

         13  can talk with you about is our efforts to place a

         14  nurse in every non- public school that, that, every

         15  non- public primary school that requests one.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Doctor,

         17  you're a, I'm sorry, a Deputy Commissioner?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'm a

         19  Deputy Commissioner.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  And,

         21  of the New York City Department of Health and Mental

         22  Hygiene.  And, you are aware that the New York City

         23  Council overrode the Mayor's veto on December 7th,

         24  2004, a law that directly affects the Department of

         25  Health and the area that you supervise, will you
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          2  agree with that?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Sorry,

          4  I'm, say it one more time.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  We, I

          6  mentioned your --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I do

          8  agree to who I am.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  -- Role, I

         10  mentioned. You agree as to who you are and that we

         11  took a vote on December 7th, 2004, which overrode

         12  the Mayor's veto and passed Local Law 57.  You agree

         13  with that?  You're aware of that?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'm

         15  aware of that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But, are you

         17  saying that as a Deputy Commissioner of the New

         18  York, he's not a potted plant, if he wants to sit

         19  next to you, he can.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I

         21  agree.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  You are

         23  aware that we, and overrode the Mayor's veto and

         24  enacted Local Law 57?  Are you aware of that?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  You
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          2  know, I'm responsible for the implementation of the

          3  school health program, and I can talk with you about

          4  our efforts to place a nurse in every primary school

          5  that requests one.  But, I can't talk with you about

          6  these legal issues.  I'd have to, I'd have to get

          7  guidance from our, from the law department.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Have them

          9  join you.  But, doctor, we passed the law that

         10  directly affects your role and what you do on a

         11  daily basis, and yet you're telling us that you're

         12  not in a position to discuss what that law requires?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'm

         14  happy to talk with you about our efforts to place,

         15  to place nurses in schools-

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- And

         18  I really hope today that we can focus on the very

         19  real problem that we have in, in recruiting and

         20  retaining our nurses.  These are, I've talked with

         21  you about all the efforts that we've made to extend

         22  our recruitment of nurses.  We would welcome the

         23  involvement of everybody in this room in, in

         24  enhancing that effort --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  We're happy,
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          2  I'm happy to get with you to that, doctor, but you

          3  are a duly deputized, Deputy Commissioner of the New

          4  York City Department of Health. The City Council

          5  passed the law that directly affects your role in

          6  that position, yet you're not prepared to discuss

          7  what that law says and what that law is all about?

          8  I mean, I'm sorry doctor, but ignorance is not an

          9  excuse for not following the law. I'm not saying

         10  you're ignorant, but that's old saying.  So, are you

         11  saying you're not aware with what that law says?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  What

         13  I'm saying to you, Council Member, is that I'm happy

         14  to talk with you about our efforts and we're making

         15   --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, I just

         17   --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- All

         19  efforts to place nurses in schools that replace

         20  them, that request them.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But, you're

         22  not in a position to discuss whether or not that law

         23  is valid and what it is you are required to do

         24  pursuant to that law?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I've
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          2  told you that if, on the issues of the validity of

          3  the law, I have to refer to the law department.

          4  But, I'm happy to talk with you today, is, about

          5  today is our efforts to assure that there's a nurse

          6  in every non- public school that requests a nurse.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And, can

          8  you, oh, go ahead.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I'm sorry, I just

         10  want to --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I think

         12  the --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Jump in.  I

         14  think all Council Member McMahon, I mean, I

         15  understand you don't want to get into a discussion

         16  about whether the Mayor should have vetoed the bill

         17  or not.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, that's

         19   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Fine.  He was

         21  simply asking you whether the date he told you was

         22  correct about the veto, was your first question.

         23  And, that that couldn't even be answered, I think,

         24  escalated things.  So, it seems like we could all,

         25  in good faith, agree that December 7th was the day
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          2  it was vetoed and then go from there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Yea, I don't

          4  think, I don't think that the Deputy Commissioner

          5  had an issue with that Madam Chairwoman.  But, what

          6  I want to know is whether she, as a Deputy

          7  Commissioner --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  -- Considers

         10  that a valid law, which she has to follow in the

         11  fulfillment of her duties which she, you know,

         12  certainly swore to uphold.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Which seems to me

         14  black and white, which doesn't go to the issue of

         15  whether the Mayor should have or shouldn't have

         16  vetoed it --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- If the Council

         19  overrides a veto --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- A law is a

         22  law.  It seems to me anybody who's a member of City

         23  government should be able to answer that question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I agree.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  And
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          2  I've given you my answer.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But I don't, I

          4  have to say --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Which is a

          6  refusal to answer.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'd

          8  like to talk about the content of the issues that

          9  we're here, which I'm, I'm happy to talk with you

         10  about and we've come prepared to talk with you

         11  about, and I really --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, so --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- Want

         14  to try and convey to the Council that we are doing

         15  our level best to recruit and retain nurses.  But,

         16  that we continue to have a large vacancy rate and

         17  that we continue to face great challenges in filling

         18  the positions that we have.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  But,

         20  doctor, you will agree with me that there was a time

         21  when you testified before this Council and said at

         22  other meetings, that it was not the role of the

         23  Department to put a nurse in every school on a full-

         24  time basis and that is why we then passed Intro.

         25  207A.  Will you at least grant me that?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Well,

          3  Council Member, as you are aware, in September of

          4  last year, the Mayor announced that we were now in

          5  the position to restore the nursing levels, staffing

          6  levels to, to the 2002 level --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Very good.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- And

          9   --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But, you

         11  understand that Local Law 57 required you to do

         12  more.  Now what is it that you are doing now in your

         13  efforts?  Are you trying to meet the Mayor's mandate

         14  of September, as he expressed it?  Or, are you

         15  trying to follow the law that was passed by the City

         16  Council?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Council

         18  Member, we are trying to assure that there is a

         19  nurse available for every primary school that

         20  requests a nurse.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Pursuant to

         22  the Mayor's directive or pursuant to the law passed

         23  by the City Council? And, they are different, doctor

         24   --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'm not
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          2  sure that I --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  -- You've

          4  testified that they are different.  Your testimony

          5  today says they're different. Please answer that

          6  simple question.  Are you acting pursuant to the

          7  Mayor's directive of September, more limited, or the

          8  more expanded prescription found in Local Law 57?

          9  Which are you acting pursuant to?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I will

         11  repeat myself, Council Member, that we are

         12  endeavoring to assure that every primary school that

         13  requests a nurse has a nurse.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Irrespective

         15  of size --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  You

         17  know, I don't, I think --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So, let's,

         19  irrespective of size?  Irrespective of whether they

         20  had one in 2002 or not?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  The

         22  require, the, it was Intro. 207A that introduced the

         23  notion of size.  In our efforts to place nurses in

         24  non- public schools in 2002, we placed nurses

         25  without respect to size.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Well, I have

          3  a school, Trinity Lutheran, in my district which had

          4  two, more than 200 in 2002, now has about 170, and

          5  you pulled their nurse out, saying that they don't

          6  meet the requirement of 200 children in the school,

          7  measured, even measured from K through eight.

          8                 Then, you, Doctor Platt sent a memo,

          9  an e- mail to the Archdiocese, saying that we're

         10  measuring, we're counting 200 and we only count K

         11  through six.  So, and now you're saying we're trying

         12  to put a nurse in every school.

         13                 So, those are three very different

         14  signals, and what I want to know is, are you

         15  recognizing the validity of Local Law 57 and

         16  following it's mandate?  Or, are you following the

         17  mandate, not the mandate, but the Mayor's action in

         18  restoration to pre- 2002 levels?  Which one is it?

         19                 And, when you say we're trying to put

         20  a nurse in every school that requests it, why are

         21  you yanking them out of Trinity Lutheran?  Why are

         22  you yanking them out of Saint Rocks (phonetic)?  The

         23  schools in Staten Island that meet the 200 level,

         24  that have a waiting list of nurses who want to fill

         25  the jobs, are not getting the nurses.  So, what is
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          2  it that we're trying to do?  To say we're trying to

          3  put a nurse in every school, under what mandate?

          4  And, if so, why aren't the nurses going into school?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Why

          6  don't we start with the last one, which is really

          7  concrete, that there is, you're telling me that

          8  there's a school in Staten Island that has more than

          9  200 kids enrolled, that's a primary school, that has

         10  a nurse ready to go to work, who's a duly licensed

         11  qualified nurse, we would love to have that

         12  information.  We welcome that sort of assistance and

         13  I'd like to get the details from you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  We will do

         15  that.  Trinity Lutheran, though, you pulled the

         16  nurse, because they, they were told because they

         17  fell under 200.  They had a drop in enrollment. They

         18  had 200 in 2002.  They now have, I guess 170 or

         19  something, right Gelvina?  So, their nurse was

         20  pulled and they were told it was pulled because you

         21  don't have enough kids in the school. Yet, they had

         22  one in 2002.

         23                 So, now, it's seems that when it fits

         24  your needs, you're invoking the 200 rule.

         25  Therefore, Local Law 57 is in effect.  But, when it
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          2  doesn't fit your needs, you're saying, well, we're

          3  following, when it does fit your needs, we're

          4  following the Mayor's directive.

          5                 By the way, doctor, the budget

          6  increase in DOH's budget does not fully fund what

          7  the Council required in Local Law 57 or what the

          8  Mayor required.  So, we'll get to that, I guess, at

          9  the budget Hearing next month or whatever.  But,

         10  what I still want to know is, what is it that you

         11  are following to undertake this action to put a

         12  nurse in every school?  And, what does it mean to

         13  put a nurse in every school?  What does it mean?

         14  What is the school size?  What are the conditions

         15  that they get a nurse?

         16                 First of all, you're saying to me --

         17  I want to be clear on this -- you're saying to me,

         18  if I can point to a school that has 200 children, K

         19  through eight, and I have a nurse ready to go in

         20  there, a duly qualified, registered nurse, you will

         21  put that nurse in there on a full- time basis?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  We

         23  certainly want your help in recruiting nurses and we

         24  are, if you get us the information, we're happy to

         25  offer that nurse a job.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  At that school?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  I'd

          4  like to comment on that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Identify yourself

          6  for the record.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  Yes,

          8  I'm Doctor Roger Platt, the Director of the Office

          9  of School Health.  Our position, at this point, is

         10  that we will hire any nurse who meets certain

         11  conditions and place that nurse in the school that

         12  has recruited the nurse.  The conditions are that it

         13  cannot be a nurse who is already employed by the

         14  Office of School Health, as we can't expect people

         15  to take a nurse away from another school. In

         16  addition, we have had several instances where the,

         17  having a nurse in a school where that nurse has her

         18  own children is problematic.  So that, in general,

         19  we will not do that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I can live

         21  with that. But, I still don't know what beacon of

         22  light you are following as you sail this ship,

         23  whether its the beacon of light of the lighthouse,

         24  of the Mayor's enactment, or reallocation of funds,

         25  or the City Council's law?  I'd like an answer to
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          2  that.

          3                 If you're just going to say we're

          4  going to put nurses in every school, okay, say, just

          5  say I don't want to answer that question and I'll

          6  move on, but I keep trying.  The second thing is,

          7  what exactly are you doing now, what schools,

          8  exactly, qualify for a nurse?

          9                 Forget about availability, because I

         10  know, and the law says, when available, and I know

         11  that's an issue and we'll get to that.  But, I want

         12  to know, who gets a nurse now?  So, first, will you

         13  answer what you're following and if not, what school

         14  gets a nurse, if they ask?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Okay.

         16  I'll turn to Doctor Platt to chime in if, in, if the

         17  school that you're mentioning had a nurse in 2002,

         18  we're committed to restoring that nurse and --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Irrespective

         20  of size?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  In

         22  2002, the nurse was allocated to non- public schools

         23  that requested them, irrespective of size.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  And, so
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          2  that, I don't know the details that you're speaking

          3  of.  So, you'll just have to get me --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I appreciate

          5  that --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- The

          7  name of that school --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I appreciate

          9  that, okay.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- And

         11  get us the information and I'll, we'll try and sort

         12  it out.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, but keep

         14  going.  What is, now, if I have an elementary

         15  school, say a non- public school, K through eight,

         16  that has 200 or, no, forget about size, that

         17  requests a nurse full- time, what do they get?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  If this

         19  is a nurse that hasn't had, this is a school that

         20  hasn't had a nurse in the past?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Or has part-

         22  time, right.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Or has,

         24  then, in that case, if it's a K through eight

         25  school, and has 200 kids, we will continue to do our
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          2  utmost to recruit a nurse for that school.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So, in the,

          4  so, just so I'm clear, it looks like you're

          5  following both.  If the school had a nurse at 2002,

          6  full- time, and they now request it, they will get

          7  one.  If it's a school that didn't have a nurse full

          8  time in 2002, but now has 200 or more children, even

          9  in the K through eight configuration, they will get

         10  a nurse.  And, an intermediate school, in the

         11  configuration as defined and as discussed, will have

         12  either a nurse or other health professional as

         13  defined by the law, is that correct?  Whether they

         14  had one or not in 2002, if they have 200 kids or

         15  more, they get it as well?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  On

         17  intermediate schools, Doctor Platt, do you want to?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  We

         19  will follow the policy of putting a public health

         20  advisor or a public health assistant or a nurse into

         21  an intermediate school that has more than 200

         22  children.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, so

         24  that's resolved and I think we all agree with that,

         25  and that is what the law requires and that was the
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          2  practice even without the law.  Doctor Platt, why

          3  then did you get into a conversation with the

          4  Archdiocese to say that your definition of where, as

          5  I understood it, as I was told, and correct me if

          6  I'm wrong, if my understanding is wrong, that the

          7  way that you would meet the requirements of Local

          8  Law 57 were you would count students from K through

          9  five or six, either one, and if it's not 200, then

         10  they don't meet the new requirements and, therefore,

         11  they don't get a nurse?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  We, we

         13  looked at the provision of 207A and did our best to

         14  figure out what it meant.  The initial --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Doctor, did you

         16  ever reach out to the Council for clarification?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  No, I

         18  did not. That's, frankly, I work within a

         19  departmental structure.  So, I consulted solely

         20  within the Department.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I just got off

         22  the phone with the Commissioner, he knows how to get

         23  me.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  Well,

         25  that's --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  It seems --

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  You're

          4  asking me about what my actions were, I'm telling

          5  you what I did, I'm --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right.  So, let

          7  me be clearer --

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  -- Not

          9  telling you what the Department did.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Let me be

         11  clearer, I find it an unacceptable answer that the,

         12  that you're indicating that you didn't, that you had

         13  to figure out how to implement the law and you or

         14  your part of the departmental structure didn't have

         15  the common sense to pick up the phone and call the

         16  Council or reach out to your very able staff and

         17  also at Legislative Affairs and ask them for

         18  clarification.

         19                 So, just for the record, and I'll

         20  communicate it to the Commissioner, I think your

         21  part of the Department needs to be given some

         22  training on the intergovernmental structure, so you

         23  know how to reach out to us, because that's not an

         24  acceptable answer, just like it wouldn't be

         25  acceptable on our part if we said we did x, y and z,
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          2  because we didn't know what DOH was doing and we

          3  never picked up the phone to call Fran or Tom or

          4  Christina or whomever that might have the answers.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  All

          6  other people in my Department, that's not what I

          7  said.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, but you

          9  didn't call the Council and I'm just taking

         10  exception --

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  I

         12  didn't --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- To that,

         14  because one of the things that I said in my opening

         15  was that I hoped that this Hearing would lead to

         16  dialogue between us on this issue. Because, just

         17  because we disagreed doesn't mean we have to

         18  continue to disagree every step of the way.

         19                 My point is that in the agency, you

         20  should call and ask.  We would be happy, in a non-

         21  confrontational way, to clarify what our intent was.

         22    You might disagree with it, and then not implement

         23  it, and then we could have that discussion. But,

         24  there couldn't be this we didn't know and didn't

         25  ask.  Just like we would never, we would try never
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          2  to do something without checking with you if we

          3  didn't understand why you were or how you were doing

          4  something.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  Shall

          6  I continue? I sought advice within the Department.

          7  We initially agreed that the proper way to view a

          8  primary school was in the same way it was defined in

          9  public schools, which is K to five.  After further

         10  consideration, we sent a communication to Mr.

         11  Mahoney that said two things.  One, that our

         12  understanding of what the law meant was K through

         13  six.  But, that it was our intent to implement and

         14  to place a nurse in every school in which there were

         15  more than 200 kids in K through eight.  So, that was

         16  what I communicated to Mr. Mahoney after extensive

         17  discussion within the Department.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And just, I

         19  want to make it clear, I don't know what, I never

         20  saw exactly what you communicated, I mean, I was

         21  told.  So, I don't know and I take you at your word

         22  for it.  But, certainly, the brushfire raced across

         23  that the implementation was going to be K through

         24  six and that's why we're here now today.

         25                 But, certainly, I think Council
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          2  Member Quinn is correct, if you had reached out to

          3  us, because I think that even Doctor Bassett knows

          4  what we intended with the enactment of Local 57,

          5  which is, as you said here this afternoon, a nurse

          6  in every school.  So, if it's an elementary school,

          7  K through five, is a traditional configuration of a

          8  public school, that's what we meant.  A traditional

          9  configuration of a Catholic or Yeshiva school or a

         10  Lutheran school is K through eight, and the

         11  traditional configuration of a public intermediate

         12  school is six, seven and eight.  But, there are

         13  variations.

         14                 But, I -- will you at least concede

         15  that you knew that that's what we intended by the

         16  enactment of 57, Local Law 57?  Not that what you

         17  have to do, that's, you understood that that's what

         18  we intended from our Hearings and from our letters

         19  and from the language and what you, the people said

         20  to you? Would you at least concede that you

         21  understood that that, even if we didn't say it

         22  correctly, that that's what we intended?  I'm not

         23  even saying you're bound by it, you're not conceding

         24  that --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  No, I,
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          2  I mean --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  -- You're --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

          5  We're not having a --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  -- You're

          7  simply --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

          9  Debating club here, we're trying to ensure that we

         10  deliver the best services to kids that we can.  I

         11  think that we have, we are communicating that, I

         12  hope that we're conveying what we're doing and, you

         13  know, I think, I understand the intent of this, of

         14  this amendment is to ensure that there's enduring

         15  clarity on the issue.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  And

         17  you still didn't exactly answer my question, which

         18  was --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But you're good

         20  at not answering --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  -- You

         22  certainly knew, you knew what we intended, I mean,

         23  you knew what we were trying to do, what we intended

         24  by that law, was simply to have a nurse in every

         25  building under the traditional school configurations
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          2  or a health care advisor, when appropriate.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I

          4  certainly understand that next time I should pick up

          5  the phone to somebody who can pick up the phone to

          6  Chairperson Quinn --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- And

          9  then we won't have --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Alright.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- Any

         12  question about intent.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And I

         14  appreciate your candor, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Council Member

         16  Oddo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I have a couple

         18  of questions.  Doctor Platt, when did the, those,

         19  that internal analysis, that you just described,

         20  when did that take place, when you were trying to

         21  determine the universe of schools that this bill

         22  impacted?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  That

         24  discussion took place in December and at the

         25  beginning of January.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Was that before

          3  or after the Mayor vetoed the bill?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  That

          5  was after the Mayor vetoed the bill.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  So, what you're

          7  saying is the Mayor vetoed a bill that DOH wasn't

          8  exactly sure what it said?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  No,

         10  let me, let me be clear about this.  We did this

         11  review after the Council overrode the veto.  That is

         12   --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  So the Mayor

         14  vetoed a bill with DOH not really sure exactly what

         15  the bill said?  You said that you did analysis of

         16  the bill to figure out exactly the universe of

         17  schools, that happened after the Mayor vetoed it.

         18  So, the Mayor vetoed the bill without DOH really

         19  knowing what the bill said.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  I

         21  can't comment on that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.  I find

         23  it absolutely amazing that there is any question

         24  about the intent of the Council.  When you look at

         25  the schools that attended the Hearings, when you
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          2  look at the schools that attended the press

          3  conference, when you look at the schools that wrote

          4  directly to the Mayor, directly to Tom Frieden

          5  (phonetic), if you looked at the piece of paper and

          6  you looked at those schools, you would see what type

          7  of schools they were.

          8                 So, I don't, I mean, I understand the

          9  Chair's point about just pick up the phone, it's

         10  easy.  I don't really see the need for you to pick

         11  up a phone to talk to someone who could talk to

         12  someone who could talk to Council Member Quinn.  I

         13  think the intent was obvious to everyone.

         14                 Let me ask you this Doctor Bassett,

         15  you weren't surprised by the nursing shortage,

         16  obviously.  When did you first start experiencing

         17  the nursing shortage or when did you know that there

         18  was a pending nursing shortage coming?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I've

         20  been at the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene

         21  for two and a half years, and we have had a

         22  substantial number of vacancies in our school health

         23  program from the time I arrived.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  When the

         25  decision was made to take nurses out of non- public
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          2  schools, those special privileges as were referred

          3  to by your agency, where did those individuals end

          4  up going?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I, you

          6  know, I'm not sure where this is, is, you're asking

          7  whether any of those --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  When those

          9  nurses --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

         11  Nurses were laid off or?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yea, where did

         13  those nurses go?  Did those nurses go to other

         14  schools?  Did those nurses go to public schools?

         15  Where did those nurses go?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Let me,

         17  I'm going to just answer this to the best of my

         18  recollection, because, as you know, our discussion

         19  of this spans back over a large, a considerable

         20  number of months.  But, I can assure you that at the

         21  time that services to the non- public schools were

         22  reduced, that no nurses lost their jobs.  We, there

         23  were no, there were no nurse layoffs.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Did any of, is

         25  it possible that some of those nurses ended up in
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          2  public schools?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Yes, it

          4  is possible that some of them --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  And you were

          6  aware at that time, two and a half years ago, when

          7  the decision was made, that there was a shortage of

          8  nurses system- wide?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  As I

         10  said, since I, since I've been with the Health

         11  Department, we have had nurse vacancies, as does the

         12  whole other health care sector in New York City.  I

         13  mean, this is a national issue and one that is

         14  particularly severe here in New York City.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  The reason why

         16  I ask that question, Madam Chair, is that in the

         17  testimony of Doctor Bassett, there's a lot of time

         18  spent on the nurses shortage that, and to be fair,

         19  was mentioned previously.  I don't know if to this

         20  degree.  But, sort of nowhere mentioned in here is

         21  the notion of that this was a budgetary decision and

         22  that, as was stated from early on, early and often,

         23  and I find it sort of curious that now we're framing

         24  this issue in terms of the nurses shortage, but back

         25  then we didn't.
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          2                 We framed it in terms of the City's

          3  shortfall of revenue.  It just kind of makes me

          4  wonder, because there was a, in one of the

          5  discussions, with one of the individuals in one of

          6  the groups involved, this notion about kind of

          7  robbing Peter to pay Paul.  I kind of shrugged it

          8  off at the time, but after listening to your

          9  testimony, it sort of breathes life into that

         10  conspiracy theory that there was this shortage, and

         11  everyone was aware of this shortage, and there was a

         12  way of ameliorating the shortage in some schools and

         13  that was sort of to raid other schools under the

         14  guise that we didn't have enough money.

         15                 Again, I shrugged that theory off

         16  initially, but seeing this issue framed now, in

         17  terms of the nursing shortage, it makes me wonder.

         18  You don't have to answer that.  You don't have to

         19  answer that.  You can if you want, but you don't

         20  have to answer that.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Well,

         22  I'm not quite sure what the question is, but I would

         23  like to say that, can I just say --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Go ahead, and

         25  then I'll clarify the question.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- That

          3  at issue right now is our ability to recruit and

          4  retain nurses.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Right, okay.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  We need

          7  to --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  And it's not

          9  longer an issue of dollars --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- All

         11  of us --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- And cents --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

         14  Figure out how to --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- And what it

         16  once was --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

         18  Recruit and retain nurses.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  When we said it

         20  was an issue of philosophy or ideology, you said no,

         21  and Commissioner Frieden said no, it's about dollars

         22  and cents.  Now, dollars and cents don't see to be

         23  an issue anymore, and now it's an issue of nursing

         24  shortage.  I find that curious.  Thank you Madam

         25  Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I want to say

          3  that we've been joined by Council Member Helen Sears

          4  of Queens, a Member of the Committee.  I want to

          5  just say I find Council Member Oddo's curiosity on

          6  that issue, I agree with it, because I was, you

          7  know, the nursing shortage is irrefutable, and in

          8  fact, this Committee has held Oversight Hearings on

          9  it and has tried to work closely with HHC, more than

         10  DOH, but also with DOH, but with HHC and the unions.

         11                 We've explored putting capital money

         12  into the issue.  We've met with hospital presidents

         13  who run accelerated RN programs.  So, we agree with

         14  you that that is a big problem and we have tried

         15  institutionally to be helpful on the more, you know,

         16  global sense in the City and we will, as I jumped in

         17  with the Lehman College, do everything we can to be

         18  helpful as it relates specifically to this.

         19                 But, I have to say, the testimony as

         20  it relates to speaking almost exclusively about the

         21  nurses shortage as the challenge here struck me as

         22  somewhat disingenuous, because it wasn't the nurses

         23  shortage that brought this issue, as you said it's

         24  been with us for a long time, to us.  I think it was

         25  correct of the Minority Leader to correct the record
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          2  as we see it in that regard, because I do see it

          3  differently.

          4                 Also, with that said, on the same

          5  point, I take a little exception, Doctor Bassett, to

          6  your indicating that prior to the Local Law, which

          7  the Council passed and overrode the veto on, that

          8  there was no size limitation.  That is true, yet I

          9  think the way you said it was almost potentially to

         10  indicate that there was more availability or greater

         11  coverage prior to our law, and that somehow our law

         12  had limited the availability, when, in fact, our law

         13  was done to correct the absence that was created by

         14  your agency.  We would much prefer any school that

         15  wanted it to have it.

         16                 In fact, to be fair to Council Member

         17  McMahon, that was how he first requested the bill.

         18  We only put a limit in in the hopes of coming to

         19  consensus and compromise with the Administration to

         20  find something that was more acceptable.  If, in

         21  fact, now it's come to light that your objection was

         22  because of the size limitation, if that's the case,

         23  we will go back to the drawing board and take that

         24  out, if that is something that is more acceptable to

         25  the agency, because that's how it was originally
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          2  done before the money was taken out.  So, I'd ask

          3  you, because, obviously, you can't answer that

          4  question yourself, ask you to take that question

          5  back and have it answered by the appropriate people

          6  who could answer it.  Council Member Stewart has a

          7  question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

          9  Madam Chair. I'm going to see if I can tone this

         10  down a little bit and be a little on the friendly

         11  side.  In your attempt to recruit nurses, you talk

         12  about job listings and you talk about job fairs.

         13  But, you did not talk about anything in terms of

         14  salaries, if you compared a salary with, in the

         15  other sectors or at other institutions.  Did anybody

         16  look at that?

         17                 Because if you, in your efforts, you

         18  recruit 60, and in the same time, you lose 78, that

         19  means that you're doing, I would say that you're

         20  fighting a losing battle.  So, I would like to know

         21  the reason why you're fighting a losing battle?  I

         22  want to, tell me what caused that.  Is it because of

         23  better salaries outside?  Or, give me an

         24  explanation, if you can.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  The,
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          2  you're asking a question about the conditions of

          3  service of the nurses recruited by the school health

          4  program.  As you're probably aware, these conditions

          5  are subject to a collective bargaining process and

          6  it's not something that I'm able to comment on.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So, well,

          8  you know, if I'm going to be trying to do something,

          9  and I want to be successful at that, if I'm going to

         10  be successful at recruiting nurses, it means, then,

         11  that I have to make it somewhat favorable.  It does

         12  not make sense, you can find, you can get them

         13  involved, get 60 involved today.  But, in the same

         14  time that you get 60 involved and they start

         15  working, 78 left the job. That's what you just said.

         16    So, I'm asking if there's an explanation.

         17                 There's got to be some sort of

         18  logical explanation why that is the case, and I

         19  don't think that has to do with collective

         20  bargaining.  I think it has to do maybe with

         21  salaries or condition at work or maybe there could

         22  be attrition, that they retire or something.  But,

         23  you're not saying exactly what it is, because I

         24  can't see myself going after a case like this to

         25  recruit new nurses, I can recruit 60, but in the
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          2  same process, I lose 78.  That means something is

          3  wrong and I'm just looking for an explanation.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Well,

          5  certainly the position of a school health nurse is

          6  something that has a, appeals to just a certain

          7  niche of the nurse market.  These kinds of jobs will

          8  appeal to people who like to have summers off. These

          9  are part- time positions, so we don't, we don't, we

         10  employ nurses during the school year.  They'll

         11  appeal to people who don't have, who want to have

         12  regular hours, working in a setting where they're a

         13  solo practitioner, so to speak, working with largely

         14  healthy population and with, you know, little

         15  pressure for overtime work, or opportunity for

         16  overtime work.

         17                 So, all of those factors may also

         18  contribute to the, how appealing this position is

         19  to, to a nurse who has numbers of options here in

         20  New York City, a City which is very rich in health

         21  care providers.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So, it

         23  behooves you to now look at those things that would

         24  encourage them to stay in, encourage people to, and

         25  that's what I'm trying to get you to say, that
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          2  you're going to look at new ways in which to recruit

          3  these nurses to have them stay.  You're not being,

          4  trying to address that side.  But, however, I want

          5  to move on.

          6                 The nurses that were employed in 2002

          7  and they, because of whatever the reason, budget

          8  cuts, whatever the reason was, they were either let

          9  go or they moved on, whatever the story is.  Did

         10  you, now, did you try to, as you said, those schools

         11  that really want them back, did you first try to

         12  have them recruited, rehired first, to the same

         13  schools, or ask if that, if they can get back to the

         14  same schools?  Because I get the impression that's

         15  what you were saying.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:

         17  Council Member, I think, I was not here in 2002, but

         18  it is my understanding that, in fact, there were not

         19  nurse lay offs at that time.  At any one point in

         20  time, then and now, a significant fraction of our

         21  work force represents agency nurses.  So that the

         22  situation in 2002 is that some nurses may have been

         23  reassigned, but I'm not aware that people were layed

         24  off.  So, I don't know that that pool exists --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Well, we're
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          2  talking about from the non- public schools, that the

          3  nurses there were somehow no longer allowed to work

          4  there because of budget cuts or because of the shift

          5  in different positions.  I'm asking if those folks

          6  are now given the opportunity, as first preference,

          7  to go back there?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  And I

          9  don't know that such nurses exist, that is, the

         10  nurses -- if you're asking whether we should look at

         11  nurses who are in a full- time school in 2002 and

         12  are now working somewhere else in the school health

         13  program, whether we should let them go back there,

         14  we can certainly look at that, but, nobody was layed

         15  off.  Nurses may have been moved around a little

         16  bit.  So, I guess I'm not, I'm not clear on the

         17  group of people that you are asking us to approach.

         18  We can certainly go back and approach anybody whose

         19  ever worked for us and who no longer works for us,

         20  but we've had no lay offs.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Alright, my

         22  last question basically is, in the schools, you

         23  mentioned that you set the criteria from K to eight

         24  or from K to six, whatever.  Does the nurse have a

         25  preference to what school they would want to work
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          2  at?  You know, for example, if a nurse was making an

          3  application for a school that is maybe near their

          4  home or something like that, and let's say that they

          5  may not meet the requirement of 200, a population of

          6  200 between K and eight, it may meet it at K and

          7  eight, but it may not meet it at K and five or K and

          8  six, based on your definition a while ago, would

          9  they be given any preference to work at that school,

         10  if they want to work, now? I'm just looking to see

         11  what is your attitude in terms of getting nurses

         12  back into the system to work in the schools.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  Let

         14  me, let me, it's, unfortunately, a complicated

         15  answer, but let me try.  The first thing is, as I

         16  said before, we do not want to have nurses working

         17  in schools where their own children are students.

         18  In addition, we try to avoid having nurses work in

         19  the immediate neighborhood where they live because

         20  of concerns about confidentiality, which I think are

         21  real.

         22                 Now, when we go beyond that, we have

         23  a real dilemma here, and that dilemma is that on the

         24  one hand we want nurses to come work with us, and

         25  allowing them to choose where they're going to work,

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  obviously is a plus.  The problem is that our

          3  vacancy rate varies very dramatically from one

          4  neighborhood to another.

          5                 So, on the one hand, while we want to

          6  make the nurses happy, we are faced with the fact

          7  that we have areas of the City where virtually every

          8  single one of our nursing positions is filled, and

          9  we have areas of the City where we have a 30 and 40

         10  percent vacancy rate.  So, what we try to do is to

         11  encourage newly hired nurses to work in areas where

         12  there is the greatest need.  But, ultimately, if our

         13  choice is hiring a nurse where, in the area where

         14  she wants to work or not hiring her at all, we

         15  certainly have to take into account the geographic

         16  area in which she wants to work.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I want to

         18  thank you for your testimony, but I also want to

         19  know is there any special attempts other than the

         20  recruitment and listing, any special incentive or

         21  anything that you're going to be doing to at least

         22  to meet the mandates of this bill?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  We are

         24  looking at a variety of options at this time.

         25  They're not ones that I'm at liberty to discuss
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          2  today, but we are very mindful of the fact that

          3  nurses exist in a market and if nurses don't come to

          4  work for us, there's a reason, and we are taking a

          5  very careful look at the various ways in which we

          6  could make our positions more attractive.

          7                 As Doctor Bassett mentioned before,

          8  collective bargaining does have a role to play in

          9  this, because we cannot, by law, simply change our

         10  conditions of employment unilaterally. But, we are

         11  very mindful of the fact that we exist in a market

         12  and ultimately nurses have a lot of choice.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         14  Thank you Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.

         16  Council Member Clarke.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you

         18  Madam Chair. Doctor Platt, I have a very simple

         19  question around recruitment. Has there ever been

         20  given any consideration to retired nurses? The

         21  description of the profession, as you've described

         22  here today, had to do with the, you know, the time,

         23  you know, it's a part- time job for the most part,

         24  during the school year, that sort of thing.  It

         25  would seem to me that that may be appealing to those
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          2  who have either recently retired, you know, because

          3  once a nurse, always a nurse.

          4                 And, usually those who have retired

          5  have been in the profession for so long, they can

          6  take care of people in their sleep.  I happen to

          7  have many nurses in my family, many of whom are

          8  retired, and whenever you feel an ache or pain, you

          9  call Aunt so and so and she's got the remedy right

         10  there.  So, I would just like to make that

         11  recommendation, that maybe you reach out to some

         12  associations for retired nurses, and I'm sure

         13  they're, you know, these folks are willing to

         14  provide their services.  Have you given that any

         15  consideration?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  We

         17  have not had a specific initiative to recruit

         18  retired nurses and I think that's something we ought

         19  to give some real thought about.  We are sending out

         20  a mailing to every licensed nurse in the five

         21  boroughs and the surrounding counties, so that, the

         22  retired nurses will be aware of these opportunities.

         23    But, I think you've made a very useful suggestion

         24  and we will need to go back and think about whether

         25  there's a sort of a targeted initiative that might
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          2  be useful here.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Do you ever, when

          4  nurses leave the school health program, ever conduct

          5  an exit, like an anonymous exit questionnaire with

          6  them?  I mean, it would just, we're all speculating

          7  on why they're leaving and, you know, since there's

          8  so many options out there for them, it's certainly

          9  informed speculation.  But, it might be interesting

         10  to do that. Or, to do kind of an anonymous

         11  questionnaire to all of the nurses presently in the

         12  program, to find out why, are they thinking of

         13  staying, are they thinking of leaving, why are they

         14  doing either, you know.

         15                 Some of it may not be immediately

         16  within the Department's control, like you said, some

         17  of its collective bargaining, some of it may be

         18  trepidation because there's been such press on this

         19  issue, that they feel like any day there's another

         20  round of budget cuts.  So, you know, there's

         21  certainly, if that's what we saw on the

         22  questionnaires, there's info. We can then convey to

         23  them, saying that's not the case.  It just may not

         24  be something that we typically do.

         25                 I'd ask you to think about it,
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          2  because if we had that info., then we might be able

          3  to get then info. Or do other things outside of, you

          4  know, giving them a million dollars each, which they

          5  probably deserve, quite frankly, that might get them

          6  to stay.  So, I'd ask you to think about that as a

          7  strategy.

          8                 To go back to the issue of the State

          9  regs. For a second.  Doctor Bassett, in your

         10  testimony, you referenced that New York State

         11  Department of Education Regulations generally

         12  describe elementary or primary schools as K through

         13  six.  We were just, you know, I mentioned before we

         14  looked at State regs.  If somebody could just

         15  provide Gelvina or the Committee what regs. You're

         16  referring to, because we'd like to have those just

         17  for our own frame of reference.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Happy

         19  to do that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I wanted to go

         21  through two other things.  When the Mayor, which you

         22  mentioned, did his announcement in September, I

         23  think it was, maybe I'm wrong, about putting $8

         24  million back in, he said $8 million.  But, in the

         25  preliminary budget, was just released, we see $7.3
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          2  million.  Do you know which it is or why it appears

          3  at $7.3 million if it's really, actually $8 million?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  All I

          5  can tell you is that we're going to have an awful

          6  hard time filling our positions.  I don't, I can't

          7  give you the exact budget numbers or the explanation

          8  of that discrepancy --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I mean --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- But

         11   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- We,

         14  money is not, as was noted, money has been restored

         15  to the school health budget and budgetary issues are

         16  not, at least an aggregate, are not the, is not the

         17  barrier to recruitment.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I mean, I

         19  understand that, and, but, you know, I understand

         20  your perspective of that at this time.  That said,

         21  there was a public announcement of eight and the

         22  difference between eight, you know, and then there's

         23  the fiscal impact of our bill.  So, the difference

         24  between the two is one, relevant, because if we're

         25  subtracting eight from ours or 7.3 from ours, but
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          2  also the Mayor did, you know, have a press

          3  conference and stand up and say I'm putting eight

          4  in.

          5                 So, if it was changed to 7.3, for

          6  argument sake, there may be good reason for that and

          7  it may be because it was, you know, from a

          8  perspective of a numbers person, not money well

          9  spent putting into a line because of the shortage

         10  you feel you're not going to spend it.  But,

         11  whatever it is, eight was said and we see 7.3.  So,

         12  if you could get us information on that and why it

         13  changed, because that's of concern to us on a host

         14  of different levels.

         15                 Certainly, it's something we would

         16  revisit at our Hearing on the preliminary budget.

         17  But, if there is a valid rationale for it, I'd

         18  prefer to get it out of the way, honestly, before

         19  that, so we don't eat up all the time, so to speak.

         20  So, if you could ask the budget people, that would

         21  be great.

         22                 I just want to kind of confirm some

         23  of these numbers, and you may not know this, if not,

         24  if you can just take them back and get back to us.

         25  As we read budget head count documents, et cetera,
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          2  there was in May of  '04 550 public school nurses,

          3  and in February of  '05, there's 561.  And, in non-

          4  public in May of  '04 there was 130, and in February

          5  of  '05, there's 109.

          6                 Now, obviously, the difference there

          7  in the non public kind of, I think, might go a

          8  little bit to my point that I made that these nurses

          9  might be getting different jobs because they're

         10  afraid, you know, of the budget axe coming down the

         11  pipeline, since those nurses have been more

         12  vulnerable.  But, that said, do you know if those

         13  numbers are correct and if not, if you could just

         14  get them, get us the correct numbers?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  If you

         16  read the again --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Sure, no problem.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- I'll

         19  turn to the page, so I don't --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Public in  '04

         21  was 550, this is just elementary.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Uh-

         23  huh.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Is that right?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  That's
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          2  what I have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And in February

          4  of  '05, public elementary 561.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  That's

          6  what I have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Non- public May

          8  of  '04, 130.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  That's

         10  what I have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay, and

         12  February of  '05, 109.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  We're

         14  in agreement.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay, great.

         16  Then, we've seen two of the job postings and I had a

         17  question.  One is a job posting for a junior public

         18  health nurse and one is for a public health nurse.

         19  I just wanted, they're both from the same day, I

         20  wanted to know what the difference was, junior

         21  public health nurse, although I learned a lot of

         22  school health job titles while working on 207A, that

         23  wasn't one I had come across before.  So, if you

         24  could explain the difference to the Committee.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  I'll
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          2  start and I'll ask Doctor Platt to add.  The junior

          3  public health nurse has an associate's degree and

          4  the public health nurse is an RN with a bachelor's

          5  degree.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Do they perform

          7  the same functions in the school? Because in some of

          8  the other job titles there's distinctions in what

          9  they can do, you know, give medicine, et cetera.

         10  So, if there different things that they can do?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  From

         12  the point of view of a school- based nurse, their --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Yea, just from

         14  that.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

         16  Functions would be the same.  It would be our

         17  preference to, in general, our, our hope is to raise

         18  the skills levels of our work force and we're

         19  actively endeavoring to recruit RN's.  But, I'm not

         20  aware that there's actually anything that they're

         21  licensed to do.  Maybe Doctor Platt would like to

         22  add.  But, as far as I know, they're not, their

         23  licenses don't, there's not activity in the school

         24  that --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So, functionally,
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          2  they do the same?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- The

          4  one can do and the other can't.  But, one is, has a

          5  higher level of training.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But, from a day

          7  to day perspective, they're the, they'll function in

          8  the same way?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:

         10  They're, I mean, I would hope that it would have

         11  some impact that one has additional years of

         12  training --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- Than

         15  the other. But, they're, the job expectations are

         16  the same.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Is it more or

         18  less likely that the junior would go to an

         19  intermediate school, where we had the choice of the

         20  nurse versus another public health professional?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  We are

         22  not, at the present time, assigning any nurses to

         23  intermediate schools, that is, our policy is

         24  designed, on the public side, is to assign a public

         25  health advisor --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Oh, okay.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  -- And

          4  my understanding of the law is that we can assign --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  That's correct.

          6  But, I just didn't know if this would function --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  Given

          8  the shortage, we, we really need to use our nurse

          9  work force in elementary schools, where they have to

         10  dispense medication to young children.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right, and that's

         12  really a shortage- driven decision, to do the and/or

         13  in the middle, to do kind of the or option in the

         14  middle school, is that right?  To go with the

         15  advisors versus the nurses about, sounds like what

         16  you were saying was about because of the shortage.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  Well,

         18  there's also an issue of administration of

         19  medications.  In elementary schools, a nurse is

         20  required, older children who can self administer --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Can do it

         22  themselves.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- Can

         24  be observed.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  And, you
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          2  didn't take a position on the bill in your testimony

          3  and you don't have, the Administration doesn't have

          4  one?  You commented on it.  You didn't say for,

          5  against or neutral.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  We gave

          7  you our comments, correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  Council

          9  Member Sears has a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Just to

         11  follow- up with the Chair's question.  For those

         12  that have their associate degrees, do you reach out

         13  to those colleges, like the community colleges, like

         14  Queens College, LaGuardia Community College, that

         15  have the nursing program?  Because, it may be very

         16  desirable for those graduates to come into the

         17  system, and they could continue doing what they're

         18  doing in the evening or in the late afternoon.

         19  Because an advantage of the school hours for them to

         20  go on, would be very helpful to them.  I know that

         21  LaGuardia and I know that Queens Community have some

         22  very fine programs.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  In my,

         24  I noted and I'm sure Doctor Platt can give you more

         25  details that we've listed our positions with the
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          2  CUNY job listings.  But, if you have any special

          3  association with these training institutions --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, maybe you

          5  have information --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  --

          7  We'd be happy to --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Because --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT:  -- Get

         10  your assistance.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I'd be happy

         12  to do that. Also, I'm sure that if somebody went out

         13  and spoke to a class at some point, they would do

         14  that, because they have excellent programs and they

         15  also like to continue to the additional two years,

         16  and to work in the elementary system would be very

         17  desirable for them.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PLATT:  That

         19  is something we should now pursue.  We have not

         20  pursued it in the past because we have traditionally

         21  asked for a year of experience from our JPHN's.

         22  Given the current shortage, we are now going to see

         23  what happens with, with associate degree nurses who

         24  we take right out of school.  So, now, for the first

         25  time, I think we're in a position to tell new
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          2  graduates that we have a job for them from the

          3  associate degree programs.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  That would be

          5  good and I think you could look at those community

          6  colleges.  They have very fine programs and very

          7  difficult to get into them and they graduate good

          8  students.  Thank you Madam Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  And,

         10  I also think it's an interesting idea for those two

         11  years programs to see, I mean, this would be a

         12  perfect, if you're going to start taking those

         13  junior public health nurses right out of school, you

         14  know, a great opportunity for them, actually, since

         15  they'll have a shorter day, if there's a way we can

         16  then engage them in getting their other two years.

         17  So, whether, if the Department was interested, it

         18  might make sense to then try to place them near

         19  their school, schools near their colleges or

         20  something like that, because if they were filling

         21  the shortage in our schools and then also going on

         22  to get their bachelor's degrees, it's kind of a win

         23  win all over the place.  We'll be happy to work with

         24  you on that.

         25                 Although I said we were just going to
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          2  hear from the Administration today and that was

          3  certainly what our structure would be, one, what our

          4  plan had been and how we had advertised the Hearing,

          5  one member of the public did show up to testify.

          6  So, we're going -- oh, that's not going to happen?

          7  Okay, I'm wrong.  Alright, hearing adjourned.  Thank

          8  you.  Bye.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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